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SUMMARY

The parish of Stoke lies on the south side of the Hoo Peninsula. Situated below a ridge of
higher ground, its landscape is a mixture of farmland and saltings fringing the river Medway.
Three areas of settlement developed in the parish; a mancrial and religious centre in the
village of Stoke, a residential and commercial settlement at Lower Stoke and a small hamlet
at Middle Stoke. Of these, only Lower Stoke experienced significant residential expansion
in the 20™ century. The parish is crossed by two significant transport routes, the A228 and
the mineral railway and the geography of Stoke saltings have been greatly affected by the
widespread extraction of clay in the late 19" and early 20" century forthe cement industry.
This Historic Area Assessment provides an overview of the historical development and
architectural character cof the parish. It forms a component of the larger Hoo Peninsula
Historic Landscape Project.
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rrontispiece; Remaing of a saling barge in Stoke safungs in 1994 (bb94_05855.0f
@Crown copnght.EH)

To the south of Allhallows fie the three Stokes, Lower, Middle and Upper on the
fower land sweeping around beside the Medway estuary from Hoo and the south,
Here are Stoke saltings, a maze of shifting and muddy channels threading their
intcate way between the low-hing idets, islands in fact only at high tide'!



PREFACE

The Hoe Peninsula Histeric Landscape Project was undertaken by English Heritage
between 2009 and 2012, The project aims were to inform landscape change at

a strategic level by providing an enhanced evidence base and a better-informed
understanding of the area's rich historic character. To ensure a truly integrated project a
number of different research and recording techniques at the disposal of English Heritage
were deployed. These included aerial survey, analytical earthwork and buildings survey,
historic landscape, seascape and routeway characterisation, farmstead characterisation
and historic area assessment. An integrated narrative report drawing on this full range of

work was produced in 2013 (Carpenter et af, 2013).

Historic area assessment was developed by English Heritage as one of a number of
approaches to understanding the historic environment at area scale. Each assessment
aims to explain how the past is encapsulated in today's landscape, to describe its
character and to distinguish its more significant elements. Because resources, timescales
and the nature of areas can vary three levels of assessment have been defined (English
Heritage, 2010). For the Hoo Peninsula Historic Landscape Project it was decided to
undertake historic area assessments cf individual parishes at outline level - that is less-
intensive survey and research to enable coverage of a wider area. The Hoo Peninsula,
east of the ridge of high land at Higham, was assessed by parish. For each parish the
key elements cf its historic development were identified, its architectural interest and
significance was evaluated and its landscape was subdivided into character areas.

The Hoo Peninsula outline historic area assessments were carried out within English
Heritage by members of the Assessment Team South, Heritage Protection Department.
Fieldwork was undertaken during a number of visits to the peninsula between 2010 and
2011, This consisted of external ground photography and site notes. A limited amount
of research was undertaken in the local archives. Extensive use was made of historic
maps, princpally the tithe maps and various Ordnance Survey editions, along with on-
line resources such as census data and historic newspapers, to produce the assessments.
These were written in draft by the team members between 2011 and 2013.
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INTRODUCTION

The parish of Stohke ks an the south side of the Hao Peninsula, adjaining the Medway
astuary (Fig. 1), To s east & the lske of Gran, from which it e separated by the Yantket
Crosk, while to s west is the parsh of Hoo 5tYserburgh. Corving roond & great seeap
aof saltings, the parsh sits bekwr the peninsula’s rdge of higher ground. Settlemant &
focugsed in the sentral area, surnounded by isolated farmsteads, whike the eastern part is
largatly marshbnd The mineral railway runs abang the southern edge of the parish, which &
alan bisected by the penimuoks man rdad, the A28,

At least three areas of settlemeant have developed in the parish, diferentiated in modern
times by their designation as Lower, Middke and Upper Stoke The latter, kncwen oftein
simply 25 Stoke, & stuated to the south of the A8 and retaing the character of a small
Heo village To it north east & Leweer Stoke, which newe forms the main settlement and
has the greater concentration of houses and public amenities. In betwean hes the small
hamlet of Middlke Stoke akhough bte-20th- century expansion has new effectively joined
this to Lonwer Stoke . Hetorically the vilage evobed as the manoral and religious centhe
af the pargh, whik commencal activities have tended to gravtate towards Lower Stake,
wehich gresas ufe along a route to the lsle of Grain.
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The parish, which has a soil of light loam with a subsoil of gravel and clay, retains an
agricultural character. Seme of its farms, traditionally used for marshland grazing and
arable crops, were amongst those improved by Henry Pye in the latter part of the 19th
century. For Stoke, the impact of the industrialization of the Medway during the |9th
century was focussed mainly on the saltings, from which huge amcunts of clay were
extracted for cement preduction. Although the Hundred of Hoc railway line was built
across the parish in 1881-2, it only acquired a halt in 1906 and a station in [932.The scale
of post-war industrial development in adjoining parishes has led to a significant residential
expansion of Lower Stoke and read improvements to accommodate heavier traffic.

Stoke is one of Hoo's less well known parishes, historically overlooked in favour of

its neighbours, Hoo St Werburgh and the sle of Grain, and overshadowed today by
the power staticns at Grain and Kingsnorth. Sparsely developed away from its main
settlement, it has been characterised as ‘'a sweeping, cpen parish with an air of breadth
and freedom'?
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HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT

Settlement

Much abaut the history of early settlement in Stoke remang obscure, There are
referenees o Andsoohesham in about FI0A0 and to Esborhes or Stoches in the
Devresday Book but these may refer to d ferent locationz ? Land at Ozterbind was
granted by Quean Badgifu to Chret Church Canterbury around 959 AD, presumably

an earky reference to the subsequent famiet that evobed into Lower Steoke? Bot the
initial Fcus of settlement was the probable the vilbge of [(Upped Stoke, where the

pareh church of 5t Peter and 5 Paolwas leated (Fig. £ Howewer, as eleerhenz on the
peninsula, the remainad ittke mane than a duster of farmes wellinto the Dth cemtury (Fig.
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Figuee 2 Detad of the Sk and she Fgure 3 The wilage of Lower Shabe: OF

sufroundiy ared froen A Map of the rap publidhed | 864 & end database dght

Hundreds of Hoo and hathiarn and o) cofnaigtit and Londrnacks frfovmniction

Gitrgtarn, {798 Sroup L [AY mgtts resameed F005 Lidence
nunbers DO0SP4 and TPOD2

The ranor of Stoke seems ako to bave bean centred in the village. Akhough the
kacation af the manor bouse & unclkear, the mme of Court Lodge Farm, ariginally sted
teo the south of the parsh chunch, may be o relrence to ts ose 25 2 manonal court The
manar was the subyect of & depute in the |ith century, eventoally settled in favour of the
Bishop of Rochesterd After the Reformation Henry VI granted the ranar o Dean and
Chapter of Bochester, evantually passing to the Bokespstical Commesioners in the ke
19t ity
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The arging of Levesr Stoke are
v o obecure, Hetorizally,
it was kocwm 35 Osterland (Fig.
41, wehich has boen taken to
refer b cnsters, and it af e
te have at one time Demed part
of the Manor of Cliffie” The
date that the settlement began
to develop are unclear but the
reasons far ity emergene ane
chearer, 35 it stradd ks an ancent
reute o the ke of Gran. This
ran from the ridpewsy g
Stoke rarshes, v 3 Causeeay
edped by drainage ditches, to a
eroEsing o the Tantket craek,
Grain bridge? Osterkand Lower
Stk weas a comvenient stopring
[rlace #or travellers and at least
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twn puble houses wene astablshed o provide aommimodaton and stabhng, ncloding
the Mags Head, veited by William Hogarth and his com panions an their peregrinations
i [F3L Twry other routes abe met at Ostecland, 2 road north to Adlbe oass and one

teo the south, to Middke Stoke and bewond, The btter had to bridee 2 roadsde dian,
sectiong of which rermained unoovered ontil the kate 2080 century. The ridpeway route
had been edipsed by the [9th century by o soothern rosd that pessed throogh Middke
Stoke, eventoally forming part of the 52508, Monetheless, Lower Stoke was the most
thriving settkeimeit in the parish during the 19 @intuiy, possesing 2 windmill and , by the
canturys and, a numiber of shops And it owas hare that seveml non-oonkrmist chapals
woare establehed and o board school was built in 1876

Middle Steke appears to have evobed frioma groop of frmesteads close to the marshes
and saltings (Fig. 5). I the late- [Fth oentury it ecperencsd o modest resdentil
Expansion Earth o acoomimodate indostr @l workers on the saltings. But the opening of

Sterke Halt an the raibasgy ling in
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The parish centains a scatter of isclated farmsteads, including two former mancrial sites.
One of these is Malmaynes (or Malmains) Hall, to the north-west of Upper Stoke. This
was in existence by the |lth century and cccupied in 1300 by Sir Nicholas Malmaynes. By
the 8™ century the property was being leased by the Duppa family, whose principal seat
was Hollingbourne, Kent” The house, rebuilt in brick in the 18" century, was replaced in
late 20t century!® The other, Tudor Farm, is to the south-west of the Upper Stoke. This
was formerly the mancr of Tudors, anciently held by the Bishop of Rechester [t too has
lost its farmhouse, apparently also a red-brick Georgian building! Mackays Court Farm
is situated between Middle and Upper Stoke and is still agricultural use; Turkey Hall Farm
and New Barn Farm, on the west of the parish, are not. A cluster of cottages and a farm
at Cuckolds Green, to the west of Lower Stcke, has apparently been replaced by a small
group of houses.

Agriculture, commerce and industry

Salt making on Stoke saltings was apparently taking place during the Roman period.? An
8" century charter refers to fisheries and salt pans at Stoke and these activities continued
through the medieval period? The existence of an oyster fishery is suggested by the
name Osterland; evidence of an oyster bed has reputedly been found in the saltings

but this may relate to an oyster fishery that was in existence around [900.* On the
reclaimed marshes and higher ground, farming followed the regional pattern of marshland
grazing and corn growing. Reeds were alsc harvested and turnips grown in the early 15"
century!> The proximity of the farms to the Medway, via the creeks that crossed the
saltings, gave farmers ‘the ready convenience of water carriage from Grain-bridge to the
London and Rochester markets''®

In the latter part of the [9th century several farms in the parish were leased by Henry
Pye, including Parsonage Farm {now Court Lodge Farm) and Turkey Hall Farm. Pye has
been credited with medernising agriculture on the peninsula and leased several farms
in the parish of St Mary Hoo, where he lived. He introduced hops at Turkey Hall Farm
and is likely to have premoted seed growing in the parish, which he helped establish as
a large-scale industry across the peninsula.!” Fruit and market gardening alsc increased
in Stoke from the late-19" century, presumably boosted by the cpening of the railway
line in the 1880s. In the late-20" century animal grazing has declined but vegetables and
potatoes continue to be grown.

By the 19" century corn milling was taking place at Lower Stoke. Of the five mills
present on the Hoo Peninsula in the early 19" century, two seem to have been located
in Lower Stoke.'® One was a polygonal timber windmill on a brick base, located on the
east side of the Allhallows Road (Fig. 6), owned by a Mr Cooperin 1878 Although
disused by the early 20" century the building remazined standing until the 1920s (and is
perhaps commemcrated in the name of a local authority estate built arcund this time
on Allhallows Road). The mill house, on the west side of the road, survives. A forge or
smithy stood on Grain Road until the late-20" century, when the workshop and nearby
house were redeveloped. By the late-19™ century Lower Stoke had developed a degree
of commercial importance, serving not only the parish but possibly the wider area. The
miller operated a carrier service taking gocds te and from Rochester and by 1881 the
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settlement possessed two grocers shops,
a post office and two general stores; only
Hoo 5t "Werburgh and perhaps Cliffe
were as well supplied®® By 1920 this had
increased to at least 9 shops?!

In the 9™ century industrial activity in
Stoke was generally on a modest scale,
such as the small group of gravel pits in
Lower Stake, marked as 'old' on an 864
5 map. But there was one notable
exception - the intensive exploitation of
the mud in Stoke saltings. Between the
mid-19t™ century and the early 20™ century
millians of tans of clay were removed from
the stretch of saltings between the lsle of
Grain and Hoo 5t Werburgh, principally
for the Portland cement manufacturers

at Frindsbury, for whom it was a wvital
ingredient (Figs 7 & 8). The mud was hand
dug by labourers known as 'muddies’ until
mechanical grab cranes were introduced
in the early 20" century, Some of the day
diggers lived close to the clay holes in
converted lighters or barges, but by the
end of the 19th century they also occupied
nesly built housing in the parish. Their
presence presumably accounts for a spike
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rigure & The settlernent at Lower Stoke: CS
rmaf published in 1896 © and database nght
Crown copnght and Landrmark information
Groug Led (All nghts resenved 201 3)Licence
numbers 000394 and TRO024
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Figures /=8 The impact of clay extraction on Stoke saltings: G5 map published 1876 (left) and
1896 (nght} © and database nght Crown copynight and Landrmark inforrmation Group Led (Al
nghts reserved 20135) Licence numbers 000394 and TPO0Z4
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in its population figures around 1901, * Such was the extant of extraction that concerns
were raised about the impact on navigation in the Medway in the late 9% century® Its
legacy, the mudholes and spoilt heaps created by the industry, have significantly altered
the geography of the saltings.

Post-war change

Apart fraom clay extraction, industrialisation in the region had less of an impact on Stoke
than some other Hoo parishes; nar were any major military installations sited here. But
since the mid-20™ century the pace of change has accelerated, as the focus of industrial
development has shifted to the eastern end of the peninsula, The construction of an oil
refinery and two power stations in adjoining parishes led to demands for housing for
the grawing warkforce. Initially the required accommodation was supplied by Strood
Fural Cistrict Council, who, after a relatively modest start, built a large estate at Lower
Stoke in the 1970s (Fig. 9). The increased
industrial activity also necessitated the
upgrading of the A228 and a realignment
to bypass Lower Stoke was begun in

the [950s, A continuing increase in road
traffic, exacerbated by the opening of

a container part an the lsle of Grainin
1990, led, after much local campaigning,

to a bypass for Middle Stoke in the late
99052 Latterly, changing agricultural
practice and an increasing population, many
working away from the parish, has resulted
in the conversion of farm buildings and infill
housing developments.

Figure ¢ Lower Stoke: OS5 map [968-9 © md

database nght Crown copyright and Landrmark
&y inforrmation Group Led (Al nghts reserved

i [T 2013y Licence nurmbers 000394 and TPO024
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CHARACTER AREAS

stoke parish can be divided into two areas of dffering character:the open farmland to
the weest and marshes and satings tothe east and south; and the certrd areawith s
settlem ents.

- Ramknd rarhkndandsatngs |0 ¢ . \ - - b _ ||
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=2 ¥ 1y “ygerte )

Figuwe 10 Character areas of Stoke pavish, Background mapping ECmun copwight and
database vight 2103 Al Hghts wsenced Owdnance Saney Licence pumber 1000124900

Farmland, marshland and saltirgs

Although farming remains asignificant activity in the padsh many ofthe oullying
farmste ads have passed out of agriculturd use.

Two importarttransport route s crossthe parish: the minerd ralway and the A228 The
railweay, buitk in 1881-2, skirts the northern edge ofthe sdtings. Although the line remans
in use for freighttraffic almost no trace remans of either Midde Stoke Hat, openedin
1906, or Stoke Junction Hat which included a platform shetter and booking affice, which
served a branch lineto Alhallows on Sea betieen 1932 and 961

The A2281s a busy and noisy road, widened and redigned to bypass the setHeme nts

ofthe parish, If itHe trace of s earlier origing reman, other historc trackways onto the
marshes and sating used for agricutturd and industrial purposes, have surdved Cne
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such track lEads eastwards from
e Stoke and still grees aocess
ten @ cree kmide weharf, in exetenoe
sine the [9% century £ oot earlier,
Cither ancignt trackesys that have
falken out of uze may alko have left
their trace an the Badscape, such
2z the route from Lower Stoke to
the ridpeesay shown on a map of
e 798 2

S g consaquance of the decline
in mrarshind grazng St e
mraishes and saltings ane nove
used mainly for legure actwities,
includ ing tird weatehing and
wiikdfonading, Since the |37 the
Kent Yy ikdfowding and Conservation Assocation have aaquired Bad an the saltings, part
of which & wed 32 2 nature reserve ® One legacy of the intensive mud ectraction in the
saltings & s use 58 2 dumping ground; during the 200 century & L-beat was sorap ped

in one of the day holes (Fig. 1) and the ares was osed for etteoning household rubbesh
Frenm Lennd eon 2

Fgwe M Warkd Wor | Garnan LEBaot bk dunped
i) Stevoe satings. [Debad of 27IFH02T 19-A o200 )

The sattlements

The settlement at Upper Stoke retains the charmcter of an ‘unecpanded’ Hoo villge,
comparable to 5t Mary Hoo (Fig 12, By passed by the 82908, ity buildings are ranged
along a single meandering straet that skirts the pareh chorcheard. Prediominately
residential, the maorty of its buikdings date fram the 20 century, although some alder
structures survive. The most impartant of these & the parish chorch of 5t Peter and Faol
(grade [), which maink dates from the bte 2% and @l 13% centories (Fig. 130, Abarays
tewrer bess, the chonch suffened bomb damage in 19949 and, in 2009, was in need of
further repairs™ The twe other important surviving elements of the historic villige are
a farmetead, Court Lodge Farm [called Farsonage Farm until the kte-20% century, and
a farmer pubhe house, The Y hite Harge, Although no kanger in agrcultoral use, Court
Ledge Farm retaing a handsome ned- brick farmboose (Fri. [4), dating from the late 18th
century [grade 1] and several cutbuoildings, including an 18% sentury granary (grade 1.
The farirer ublic hoose, rebuilt in the mid-to-late 19 century, retaing its senage and
bt 9% cemtury outbuildings.

A nuimber of aottapes and houses date fram the bie 9% and earh 20% ceimto e,
includ ing & terrace of soc brick houses, Elm Tree Cottages, with 2 date stone of 1893 and
a bte- 1Frcentury rewe of three rendered houses, Chorch Terrace, set well Back from
the stieet, & detached house, Clemate Cottage, bas a date stong of 1900, Teo bhe- [9th
century cottages remain from the former farmetead of Court Lodge Farm, which stood
to the south of the churchyard, both enbrged and reworked in the late 208 cemtury.

A 20% _eentuiy inter-war pair of Faim workers houses, Parsonage Cottages, proba bl
relaced older agricobural acoommodation [Fig. 15).
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Figure [2 (top left) Stoke village: OS5 map
[969 @ and database night Crown copunght
and Landrmark information Groug Led (All
nghts resenved 2013) Licence numbers
000394 and TPO0Z4; Figure 13 (top right)
Church of 5t Peter and 5t Paul, Stoke © Mr M
K. Lofthouse. Source English Hentage Hgure
I4 [middle nght) Court Lodge Farmhouse,
Stoke in 2009 (PA7330032) & Figure 15
(hottorn feft) Parsonage Cottages, Stoke in
2009 (P57330033)

Otherwise the housing largely dates from the secand half of the 20t century. There is
ane block of local authority houses, Caronation Cottages, presumably built in the [950s,
On the west side of the village, a small development of private houses dating from

the [960s and 1¥70s occupies the site of a demolished Yicarage, although some of the
trees from its garden appear to have been retained. The site of Court Lodge Farm was
mostly redeveloped in the late-20% century as Dickensian Close, a cul-de-sac of large,
detached 'vernacular' style houses (Figs 16 & 17). The quality of these and other late-20™
century housing in the village suggest that Upper Stoke is seen as a desirable residential
location. But like other Hoo willages, new developments and the refurbishment of existing
praperties in Ipper Stoke during this period has led to a gradual erosion of its historic
fabric.

Middle Stoke is essentially a modest residential satellite of Lower Stoke in which a mid-
to-late 20" century suburban character predominates, although some older buildings
sUrvive,
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Fgwes & fop dgft) - 17 pop rghdy Bemrnped farmenoites’ oottages and modam naa-
warnacula fausss m Dickereson Close, Stoke m 200% (PA735000, PA7I0055) Fywe (8
[bextdorr deft) Conmgsby Wila, Aicdle Stoke o 200% (PA7330056) & Rgone 1F [botborn aghit)
Tuffe Cottages, Middle Shale m 2009 [PS7IZ0037)

The grandest of these & Coningshy Vilk, 2 detached house that dates from o |580

(Fig. 1810 A number of cottages and teriaoss were built in the bamiket in the labe- |3
century. OF these, one o of five hooses, Toffs Cottages (Fig. 19), and a pair, Jubiles
Cottages, nemain (Fig. 31). Their siraba ey, both ane of yelow stock bk wath red-beck
bands, suppest the same builkder Evidenoe of the hamiets agricultural past exists in the
foor i of 2 wooden warkshop and other possible remmnts of 2 [9% @ntury wheebrights
pramses adioaning an inte-war hoose, Sikeer Hope A amplee of agoco ol buildings
stands immediate |y to the noth, mainly dating from the mid-to-late 20th centory bot
weith ane |9 century brick range. A block of mid 208 entury council bouses, Medway
Wiy, stand cn the sibe of a o of modest farm mottapes whilke 2 small estate of 1970
howses, Snchorage Chse, replace 2 e [9% cemtory terrace, Peasant Fow. The fresence
of the Medway Adrsports Club, o faclty #e micnalight aincrafts, reflects the growing role
of 4 kisure- based eoonoimy in the @ninsuola.

Levaer Stoke ako has a pred aminantly 200 aentory chameter doe in part to s post

waak residential expansion. Few of the pre- 19 centuiy Builbings that ariginally closte red
around the road junctions have escaped redevelopment. The oldest domestic surval
wroan b appear o b Sooth View (grade ), o weatherboarded timbe-framed cottage that
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has been dated to either the 16th ar 1Bth century (Fig. 2002 The Mill House, Allhalows
Foad, isan |0th century building, presomable of brick but nowe rendered, wath [9th and
20th century aterations (Fig. 21). WWalnot Tree Farm, Grain Boad may netain some parts
of an [Bth antury brick farmbooze, albeit enbrged and exctensiely rewerked.

A nuiniber of 19 century houges remain, evidence of an exeansion that began in the

mid century and led to ribbon development alang the High Street. Sorviving mid-
[Fth-century propertes ange from a pairof aottapes on Allhalles Boad | noer 2

single property known 2z Sycamone House, toa wills, Melbourne Houwse, High Street.
L'nneisal Stones, Grain Foad ako sesms to b ariginated a5 o cottage or cottages of
the date. Later [9th-century resdentrl developments inclode o pair of detached villas
off Allhalkws Fead [Myrtke Vil and Moomba) and @ terrace of seven brick hooses,
Avondale Flame, which has o datestone of 1892 (Fig. 228). More onosually, Palmers Ter raoe,
Allhalows Fead , which dates from o 1900, & boilt of concrete blocks (Fig. 23).

Figuwe 20 frop loft) South View, Loweer Stolse 1 2009 (PE7330078) Figwe 20 fap dghth
The Aill House, Albaliows Boad Lower Sake m 2007 PA7I3009%); Fgure 22 (hothorm loft)
Avericdale Blace, High Steet, Lowes Stoke in 2009 (PS7330040) & Fgue 23 fhottarn sight )
Palness Tevoce, Albalows Boad 1 2009 [PS73300440)

A sgnificant amount of the housing in Losser Stoke was buil by the booal authority
beetwrsen the 19205 and the 1970z Intmlly the ook the frm of small stretches of
samkdetached houses an Allhalkws Boad and the High Street, of the standand e
introduosd by the 1918 Tudor Waters Repart. The name of one group, Kbchenar
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Cottapes, sugpeste an early [F20s date. Ths type continued fo be built wntil 1961, bad
out 283 cul-de-sae [Marchind Viewd) and 2 new street [Shepherds W) ¥ Theresfter
miore modemn types of councl housing were adopted for 2 Brge estate built from 1965
aimeaids i the ssuth of Gran Bosd 3 These included two-storey teiraces, some with
Fadburnstyle planing (2. the separation of the garages and front aocess from grassed
areas), and thres-stoney blocks of flats; its streets wene mamed after local birds. The
privately built 20%-century properties are 2 typical micture of bunga kows, detached
howses and infill developmeants

Agricultural actraty today is represznted by 2 mid-to- lte 20%-century comglex of
aghcultural buildings to the sast of Allhallws Boad. Onb one farmstead has escaped
wholesale changs, perhaps because it stood apart from Losseer Sto ke undil the mid 20th
century. Mackays Court Farm bas a [Fth century farmhowse, refronted in brck in the
1Bth century and refurbshed n the 1970s (grade 1) (Fig. 29). and outbuildings from the
irad-tes-late 0% centuiy, some still in agriculiural use. Other agriculural suiviak inclede
A pair of inter-war farm workers houses, Borey Farm Cottapes, Cockolds Gresn Foad.

Figue 24 [iop kY Mactays Court farmnbouse, Lower Stake i 2009 [PS7330042) Figwe

25 [a fight) Sroke Gomrnuriyy School, Allbaliows Bead Lower Stelke 0 2009 [P7I50043:
Figure 26 [bottom left) Linited Methocist Chureh, Lower Soke i 2007 (P57330044) & Fguse
37 (bettorn right) Mags Head public howss, and @& stable black, i 2009 [PS7330045)

Leweerr Stoke's rise to socil and avmmercial mportance in the 19 century &ako
represented in s building stock. The earliest part of Stoke Comimuonity Schoal, Allha lows
Foad, dates from 1876, a5 mminemorated by a stone plagque [Fig 25). Ewas one of
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two schools built by the local education board in the wake of the 1870 Education Act.**
The simply detailed brick ranges, intended to serve the children of Stoke and Allhallows,
was extended in the |960s. [t remains the only Victerian school building still in use on
the peninsula. The United Methodist Church, a modest brick chapel with minimal stone
decoraticn, was built in 1889 as the Bible Christian Chapel (Fig. 26). It bears testimony
to a tradition of non-conformity in the settlement, which included two earlier chapels con
the High Street, both now gone. Post-war social facilities include a plain brick village hall.

There are also a number of shops and other businesses in the centre of the settlement.
These include a public house, the Nags Heads, an early-to-mid 19 century building

with a detached stable block (Fig. 27). The Ship Inn, which stood on the north side of
Grain Road, was a mid-20" century building that was demolished in 2010, Both of these
buildings replaced earlier pubs, probably in existence by the 17" century if not earlier.
The settlement has a garage, an increasingly rare survival on the peninsulz, established in
the mid-20™ century. Cf the 9 shops in existence by 1920, few remain. Redevelopment
at the north end of the High Street in the late-20" century has even removed the former
shep buildings, a picturesque ensemble of mainly adapted houses that included -2 High
Street, whose front was adorned by a twoe-storey verandzh.
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ARCHITECTURAL INTEREST AND SIGNIFICANCE

The loss of historic buildings

in Stoke parish has been
considerable. The manorial sites
have all been redeveloped and
seemingly anly one example

of aweatherboarded, timber-
framed house has survived
{5outh View). Of the dozen or
so farmsteads in use at the turn
af the 20th century, anly two
retain any significant amaount

af histaric fabric: Court Lodge
Farm (Figs |4 & 28) and Mackays
Court Farm. The former is Figure 28 Court Lodge Farm bam in 2009 (P57330046)
an example of an apparent

campaign of farmhouse building

in the late-18th century on the Hoo peninsula {other possible examples in the parish
such as Malmaynes Hall and Tudor Farm have been rebuilt). Mackays Court farmhouse is
earlier;, albeit with an |8th century front, and therefore a significant survival, The number
of surviving pre-20" ancillary farm buildings is also small,
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Figure 2% Plan of a villa intended to be erected on a site of ground at Stoke in Kent (B85/4147

reproduced by frenmission of English Hentage/Credic: Williarm Orurmmond)
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Additions o the settlements in the |9 aentury include at lesst two houzing types of
interest, The first & the mddle-class detached vill, of which tws exampkes survve in
Middle and Lewer Stoke, 25 well 25 drewnings for another, no bnger extant f ever boilt
(Fig. 2915 Their comtruction sugpeste 3 diversifying asmmunity in the parieh in this
pericd , with 2 growing profesional chss that included chy menchants and shophee pers®

The seoand type i the working-clss terraoe, of which eamples surviee in all of the
sattkments of the pareh akthough often consdemble atbered | Soch modest bock terraoes
weale being built from at keast the |880s until the 900z (Frg. 300, Census neoids

ind isabe that in 1901 the mgjority of the cocopants wene cly dppers and their familes,
the seeond Brgest grouf B2ing agricuttuml workers and thereafter o mecture of trades
inelud ing raibary woor ks and cyster fisharmen. Before their construction the agricoltural
b bowners wioukd have Ived in extnemely modest acammadation, of which no eoam ples
hawe survived . But towas the mpd indostraleation of the Medway, and most particolack
the demands of the cament ind ustry, that & mone likeb to ave encouraged anstroction
iof the terr s

Figuwee 30 Jubilee Cotinges, Middle Stoke in 2007
[BE7II004T )
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ENGLISH HERITAGE RESEARCH AND THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT

English Heritage undertakes and commissions research into the historic
environment, and the issues that affect its condition and survival, in order to
provide the understanding necessary for informed policy and decision making, for
the protection and sustainable management of the resource, and to promote the
widest access, appreciation and enjoyment of our heritage. Much of this work is
conceived and implemented in the context of the National Heritage Protection
Plan. For more information on the NHPP please go to httpi/fiwww.english-heritage.
org.uk/professional/protection/national-heritage-protection-plan/.

The Heritage Protection Department provides English Heritage with this capacity
in the fields of building history, archacclogy, archaeclogical science, imaging

and visualisation, landscape history, and remcte sensing. It brings together four
teams with complementary investigative, analytical and technical skills to provide
integrated applied research expertise across the range of the historic environment.
These are:

* Intervention and Analysis (including Archaeology Projects, Archives,
Envirenmental Studies, Archaeclogical Conservation and Technology,
and Scientific Dating)

* Assessment (including Archaeoclogical and Architectural Investigation,
the Blue Plaques Team and the Survey of London)

* Imaging and Visualisation (including Technical Survey, Graphics
and Photography)
* Remote Sensing (including Mapping, Photogrammetry and Geophysics)

The Heritage Protection Department undertakes a wide range of investigative
and analytical projects, and provides quality assurance and management support
for externally-commissioned research. We aim for innovative work of the highest
quality which will set agendas and standards for the historic environment sector:
In support of this, and to build capacity and promote best practice in the sector,
we also publish guidance and provide advice and training. We support community
engagement and build this in to our projects and programmes wherever possible.

We make the results of our work available through the Research Report Senes,
and through jeurnal publications and monographs. Our newsletter Research News,
which appears twice a year; aims to keep our partners within and outside English
Heritage up-to-date with cur projects and activities.

A full list of Research Reports, with abstracts and information on how to obtain
copies, may be found on www.english-heritage org.uk/researchreports
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